Copyright

by

Luke James Montzingo

2016

The Report Committee for Luke James Montzingo Certifies that this is the approved version of the following report:

Effects of Pre-Exercise Carbohydrate Consumption on Metabolism During Exercise

APPROVED BY SUPERVISING COMMITTEE:

Supervisor:

Edward F. Coyle

Audrey J. Stone

Effects of Pre-Exercise Carbohydrate Consumption on Metabolism During Exercise

by

Luke James Montzingo, B. S.

Report

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of The University of Texas at Austin in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Science in Kinesiology

The University of Texas at Austin May 2016

Acknowledgements

I'd like to thank Dr. Edward Coyle for allowing me to have this opportunity in his lab. His guidance and experience has assisted my development as an exercise scientist. He has guided me tremendously in becoming an independent researcher. Next, I'd like to thank my partners in the lab, Dongwoo Hahn, Jakob Allen, Michael Brenneman and Heath Burton. I'd like to especially thank Ting Chou and Brian Leary for the guidance as PhD students who helped me develop my lab skills. I want to say a large thank you to Dr. Stone in taking time out of her schedule to be my second reader. Lastly, I'd like to thank my wife Julia. Her care, support and companionship in navigating this report has meant the world to me. I am overwhelmed with joy and thankfulness for her to be in my life.

Abstract

Effects of Pre-Exercise Carbohydrate Consumption on Metabolism During Exercise

Luke James Montzingo, M.S. Kin The University of Texas at Austin, 2016

Supervisor: Edward F. Coyle

It is well documented that consuming carbohydrates (CHO) prior to exercise has been shown to alter metabolism. There are many ways that CHO ingestion affects substrate utilization and blood glucose dynamics at the start of exercise. Changes in the concentrations of blood glucose, insulin, glucagon, free fatty acids (FFAs) as well as varying utilizations of different substrates have been observed. Each of these responses is reflective of the body's capacity to maintain homeostasis through different physiological conditions and demands.

PURPOSE: The aim is to deduce how varying amounts (approximately 0, 12.5, 25 and 50g for a 70 kg person) of pre-exercise sucrose ingestion effects metabolism including blood glucose concentration and fat oxidation during 30 minutes of moderate intense exercise.

METHODS: This will be a randomized crossover study. After the initial assessment of baseline data (VO₂peak), participants will be asked to perform four cycling trials at 50% of VO₂peak for 30 minutes. Forty-five minutes before each exercise trial, participants will consume 0, 12.5, 25 and 50g (for a 70kg person) of sucrose. VO₂ and VCO₂ will be collected for 15 minutes prior to exercise and for the entire 30 minutes of cycling. Blood glucose will be obtained through the finger prick method and collected directly prior to exercise, 5, 15 and 30 minutes into cycling. Heart rate and rate of perceived exertion will be measured every 5 minutes of exercise.

DISCUSSION:

It is speculated that a small dose (12.5g for a 70kg person) of pre-exercise sucrose consumption will be able to demonstrate a decline in blood glucose concentration during exercise with a step-wise reduction in fat oxidation. This dose response curve will display the sensitivity of metabolism to ingested sucrose.

Table of Contents

Introduction
Purpose
Review of Literature
Carbohydrate Ingestion Before Exercise
Blood Glucose7
Insulin 10
Substrate Utilization
Glycemic Index
Response to Carbohydrates
Sucrose
High Dose of Carbohydrates17
Low Dose of Carbohydrates
Integrated Outlook 19
Proposal: Effects of Pre-Exercise Carbohydrate Consumption on Metabolism During Exercise
Proposed Study Design
Experimental Approach
Proposed Protocol
Participants
Measurements

Disscussion .	 29
Bibliography	 33

Introduction

It is well documented that consuming carbohydrates (CHO) prior to exercise has shown to alter metabolism (15, 24, 28). There are many ways that CHO ingestion affects substrate utilization and blood glucose dynamics at the start of exercise (10, 15, 51). Changes in blood glucose, insulin, glucagon, free fatty acids (FFAs) as well as varying utilizations of different substrates have been observed (2, 27, 28). Each of theses responses is reflective of the body's capacity to maintain homeostasis in terms of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production through different physiological conditions and demands.

After ingestion of CHO, the uptake of glucose by the muscle, liver, brain and kidney may account for at least 90% of the ingested glucose load's ending location. The liver takes up approximately 25-35% of initial CHO load while the rest enters the systemic circulation (36). Plasma glucose regulation involves both hormonal and non-hormonal responses (18). One way to see the affects of different blood glucose levels is the use of the hyperinsulinemic glucose clamp technique. This holding constant of plasma insulin has shown some physiological dose responses as plasmas glucose concentrations change. In one occasion, plasma insulin was clamped with variable glucose infusion rates to sequentially lower target glucose concentrations. As blood glucose declines from everyday resting levels (~81 mg/dl with normal activities) insulin secretion was suppressed. When blood glucose declined further (~67 mg/dl) glucagon and epinephrine release were increased. Then as plasma glucose declined even further (~65 mg/dl and below) cortisol secretion increased (37, 43).

1

These are several ways the body is trying to maintain homeostasis to keep blood glucose concentration high for the brain to continue to get enough energy or ATP.

When CHO is ingested, and blood glucose levels increase and the body increases insulin output from the pancreas (31). Insulin is a very powerful hormone that binds to cells to allow glucose to enter the cell. Higher concentrations of plasma insulin yield a higher rate of disappearance (R_d) of blood glucose. Insulin does more than increases R_d of blood glucose; it also decreases the rate of appearance (R_a) plasma FFAs, glycerol R_a because it suppresses lipolysis in a dose response manner (10). These responses generally peak about 30 minutes after a meal with higher glycemic index (GI) foods (27) and higher amounts of CHO ingested (30) increasing the magnitude of these responses.

When CHO is ingested 45 minutes prior to exercise, blood glucose and insulin are still above basal fasted levels at the start of exercise. R_a of glucose into the blood is high from the splanchnic area while R_a of glucose to the blood from the liver has decreased (48). Within the first 20 minutes of exercise, plasma glucose drops below fasting levels due to the high blood glucose Rd (3, 13, 15). A high level of insulin combined with the contraction of large muscle mass is responsible for this large blood glucose R_d (34). After 20 min, blood glucose (27) and insulin (28) return to basal levels due to firstly, R_a of blood glucose from the liver increasing (50) and secondly, R_d of blood glucose decreasing, (28) both responding from the decline of plasma insulin concentration. If insulin is high at the start of exercise and its affects are prolonged; glycerol, plasma FFA, lipolysis and fat oxidation are suppressed during exercise compared to the fasted state (28).

Yet, it remains uncertain to what extent theses same changes will appear with a smaller dose of CHO. It is not yet known how small of a dose of CHO will perturb the body's ability to maintain homeostasis. I propose a study is needed to examine how lower doses (12.5, 25 and 50g) of CHO change blood glucose concentrations and fat oxidation.

Purpose

The purpose of this report is to propose a study that will compare varying amounts (0, 12.5, 25 and 50 g) of pre-exercise CHO ingestion and the subsequent effects on metabolism including blood glucose concentration and fat oxidation during 30 min of moderate exercise. CHO will be given in the form of sucrose (i.e.; table sugar) and adjusting the dose relative to body weight (i.e.; 0, 0.18, 0.36, 0.71 grams/kg body weight). This amounts to CHO doses of 0, 12.5, 25 and 50 grams respectively for a 70 kg person. It is expected that a step-wise reduction in fat oxidation and blood glucose concentration as pre-exercise CHO consumption increases, will occur. The aim is to determine if even a small dose of CHO (i.e.; 12.5 g; 50 kcal) perturbs metabolism.

Review of Literature

It has long been known that carbohydrate ingestion (CHO; sugar or high glycemic foods) before exercise increases plasma insulin concentrations leading to the blunting of fat oxidation as well as a transient and harmless drop in blood glucose concentration during subsequent exercise (10, 13, 15). Typically, the dose of CHO has been 50 g (200 kcal) or more (2, 13, 15, 28). However, previous work has suggested that even a small increase of plasma insulin prior to exercise caused by a small amount (25g) of CHO ingestion may be sufficient to suppress fat oxidation and cause a transient decrease in blood glucose concentration during exercise (30).

Exercise performed in the post-prandial state has been show to reduce blood glucose concentration within the first 20 min., due to glucose R_d increasing (28). The increase of glucose R_d is due to increased muscle uptake (2) coupled with hyperinsulinemia (28) even while blood glucose R_a is increasing from the ingested CHO (7). The decrease in lipolysis during exercise, even to where it limits fat oxidation, is due to elevations in plasma insulin (28). It is not yet understood if a small amount of ingested CHO affects these blood glucose changes during exercise. However, no study has systematically varied the amount of CHO ingested prior to exercise to determine the lowest amount (dose) that reduces fat oxidation and blood glucose concentration. The focus of this review will be on the physiological dose responses of CHO ingestion on metabolism at rest and during moderate exercise.

Carbohydrate Ingestion Before Exercise

During an overnight fast, the liver is the main source of glucose production, even though there is a small contribution from the kidneys (20). As the fast is broken and CHO is ingested, it is released by the splanchnic area and systemic blood glucose R_a increases significantly and thus blood glucose concentration rises with peak insulin levels soon after. Because of insulin, blood glucose R_d peaks 90 min after ingestion (36). Exogenous CHO is the primary source of systemic blood glucose R_a increasing substantially. When CHO is ingested, blood glucose R_a from the liver decreases while blood glucose uptake by the liver increases in order to restore liver glycogen. At rest, the liver takes up more of the glucose load with higher CHO doses (8). Muscle, adipose tissue and the noninsulin-dependent tissue together account for the other two thirds of blood glucose R_d (36).

Forty-five minutes after CHO ingestion, when the body is still digesting the meal and insulin and blood glucose levels have not yet returned to the fasting level (27), once exercise starts and blood insulin concentration decreases, the liver adapts from postprandial glucose uptake to the production of glucose (54). The additive affect of blood glucose R_d by the increase in muscle uptake (2) coupled with hyperinsulinemia (28) tips the balance of blood glucose R_d higher then blood glucose R_a . This creates a short period of hypoglycemia, peaking around 20 minutes into exercise (27, 28) and according to Jentjens et al. this decrease of blood glucose concentration is not dose dependent (30). Then plasma glucose rises back up to fasted levels (27) while the splanchnic area is continually heavily supporting blood glucose R_a from the time of ingestion until the ingested meal is fully digested, which if sedentary, could be as long as 4 hours (36).

There is also a change in substrate use when CHO is ingested prior to exercise (28). The elevation of insulin reduces lipolysis, which in turn decreased the rate of fat oxidation. The body uses more blood glucose (CHO) for fuel when more is available. However, the decrease in fat oxidation can't always be made up by an increase in energy expenditure derived from blood glucose; therefore, higher rates of muscle glycogen may be used along side higher rates of blood glucose (24). Hargreaves et al showed this during the first hour of exercise with interval training, but after the first hour of exercise, glycogen reduction was lower with CHO feedings (24). Another study showed muscle glycogen was conserved with CHO feeding when 200g of CHO were ingested before 40 minutes of leg exercise at 30% of maximal oxygen uptake (2). Glycogen accounted for 20% of carbohydrate burned when fed to 57% with the participants are fasted. Therefore, the amount of muscle glycogen used seems controversial when CHO is ingested before exercise.

Blood Glucose

The human body contains roughly 4g of blood glucose when systemic blood glucose concentrations are in between 80-100mg/dl, thus illustrating how remarkable the body is at holding euglycemia. Yet the body is susceptible to hypoglycemia and hyperglycemia with changes in metabolic function and food intake. When eating CHO, blood glucose R_a increases and blood glucose concentration peaks between 30 and 90 minutes after ingestion,

(53) with higher dose of CHO peaking later. Meyer et al. (36) found that systemic glucose R_a peaked at 60 minutes after ingestion while systemic glucose R_d peaked at 90 minutes after ingestion due to insulin. They saw that at 30 minutes after ingestion, R_a of exogenous CHO rose sharply, while R_a of hepatic glucose dropped and at this time, 77% of circulating glucose was accounted by the ingested glucose. Hepatic glucose release before ingestion averages around 8.34 umol/kg/min and after glucose ingestion it decreases an average 81%. This shows that only a little extra insulin, above fasted levels, is capable of reducing hepatic glucose output (22).

The liver plays an important role in maintenance of blood glucose. It releases glucose in the fasted state and takes in glucose after a meal. In doing so, the liver can supply an even amount of glucose to the body and most importantly to the brain. Hepatic gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis are the two processes by which hepatic glucose is produced. In the fasted state, the major source of energy is free fatty acids (FFAs) but the body continues to consume glucose at rates of 8-10g/hour (9). Hepatic glycogenolysis (the breakdown of glycogen to glucose-6-phosphate) contributes substantially to the liver's glucose output after an overnight fast. Then as fasting continues, hepatic glycogenolysis decreases gradually until the liver's glycogen stores are almost completely exhausted after 48 hours (41). Gluconeogenesis, the production of glucose by the liver. It is estimated that 47-53% of glucose turnover by the liver is due to gluconeogenesis 12-16 hours into fasting (11).

A marked drop in arterial glucose has been found at the onset of leg exercise following a meal (34). The dose response of this drop is not yet completely understood. Direct measurement of leg exchange of substrates during light-intensity exercise showed that the drop is due to an increase in glucose uptake by the working muscle, (3) even though the return of arterial glucose concentration levels begin to increase after 20 min (27). Leg glucose uptake during exercise was on average 2-3 fold higher after glucose ingestion. The way that exercise and insulin stimulate GLUT-4 receptor, which transports glucose into the cell, has an additive of blood glucose R_d (31). The lower R_a of blood glucose by the liver at the onset of exercise is met by a drop in blood glucose even though, when CHO is ingested before exercise, total R_a of blood glucose has increased due to R_a of blood glucose from the splanchnic being higher then in the fasted state (34).

The drop in blood glucose at the onset of exercise, comes with a drop in plasma insulin that promotes and increases glucagon secretion from the pancreas that in turn binds to receptors on the liver and induces rapid glycogenolysis and glycogenolysis (54). Even with an estimated decrease of hepatic blood flow during exercise, there is an increase in hepatic glucose output as exercise progresses (49). During a light bicycle exercise for short duration (20-30 min), glucose output has been shown to increase by 50-100% by the liver, possibly by increased sympathetic drive (49).

Insulin

Insulin can be responsible for the maintenance or hindrance of postprandial glucose homeostasis (36). Blood glucose will reach much higher concentrations without insulin after a meal, yet insulin is a large factor in the hypoglycemia found during the first 20 minutes during exercise after a meal. At rest, insulin is responsible for the large systematic blood glucose R_d following a systematic increase in blood glucose R_a . There is an uptake of glucose from the liver, kidney and muscle. Blood glucose peaks 30 minutes after ingestion of CHO and insulin peaks soon after (53) along with the decrease in plasma glucagon. Glucagon supports hepatic glucose release and therefore when suppressed, down regulates hepatic glucose R_a. Inversely, higher levels of glucagon up regulate liver glucose output. During glucose infusion, it has been demonstrated that as arterial glucose increases, arterial insulin increases and splanchnic glucose release decreases (22). This shows that the inhibition of hepatic glucose production is associated with glucose infusion through large increments of insulin levels. Insulin acts directly on the liver by binding to hepatic insulin-signaling pathways. Small changes in portal insulin concentrations effectively regulate hepatic glycogenolysis (22). Hepatic glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis show differential sensitivities to changes in insulin concentrations. Small changes in insulin can inhibit glycogenolysis where substantial increments in plasma insulin is required to inhibit gluconeogenesis (12). Insulin is the primary regulator of hepatic glucose production, even though basal glucagon levels support overnight fasted glucose output (50). Thus the dose response to CHO ingestion on insulin secretion also has an insulin response that minimizes or magnifies different physiological responses.

Insulin is also the driver of less fat oxidation after a meal. It regulates plasma FFA R_a by blunting lipolysis while maintaining a constant level of FFA re-esterification (10). When there are less FFAs entering the blood there is less FFAs concentration (27) along with less FFAs that are available to be used. Fewer FFAs make less Fatty-Acyl-CoA for the mitochondria to convert to ATP. The body's ability to inhibit lipolysis, and decrease fat oxidation, is very sensitive to insulin. Campbell et al. (10) infused insulin to show the dose response of lipolysis and FFA re-esterification. Higher amount of insulin caused a decrease in lipolysis but had no affect on the absolute rate of primary FFA re-esterification but it was shown that insulin regulates FFA R_a . Oral glucose may have different physiological dose affects then intravenously administered glucose or insulin, especially in smaller amounts. Even low elevations in plasma insulin will suppress lipolysis during exercise (28). Allen et al (5) demonstrated an explanation for these findings. The joining of insulin to a specific receptor is the first step in the blunting of lipolysis. Only a few of these receptors having insulin occupation is sufficient to prolong the fat oxidation blunting action that insulin has, even when the perfusion of insulin into the body has concluded (3).

At the start of postprandial exercise, the elevated plasma glucose and insulin increases the rate of CHO metabolism without a compensatory increase in plasma FFAs (13). After 30 minutes into exercise, insulin returns to a fasted level (27). But the changes in regulation of substrates can persist until the second hour of exercise, depending on the dose, even when plasma insulin has returned to the same levels of fasting prior to exercise (15).

Substrate Utilization

When we eat more CHO before exercise, there is a shift toward higher rates of CHO oxidation. Our body uses a combination of whatever substrate is more available and which substrate is easier to metabolize at moderate intensities. When introducing exogenous glucose to our body, glucose becomes an increasingly substantial source of fuel for the muscle while exercising, even without high insulin involved (49).

After higher doses of CHO ingestion, the augmented glucose uptake by the working muscle increases along with the blunting of fat oxidation. This happens when the insulin response to the higher blood glucose is raised (3). With the blunting of lipolysis, yielding to less calories derived from fat; sometimes blood glucose can't make up the difference in ATP needed, especially if there is an insufficient dose of CHO (28). Therefore, glycogen may make up the difference. On the other hand, a high dose of CHO may decrease the amount of muscle glycogen used during exercise (2, 33).

Coyle et al. demonstrated the reliance on CHO when in 1985 he fed cyclists 4 hours before exercise. He saw this reliance on CHO despite a return in blood glucose and plasma insulin back to normal concentrations prior to the start of exercise. These effects can last until the second hour of exercise (15). McConell et al. also showed that during 2 hours of cycling at about 70% VO2 peak, participants who ingested CHO before exercise had a significantly lower concentration of FFA and a higher concentration of insulin (34). As just previously

mentioned, this demonstrates the same substrate use after a meal that Coyle et al. did (15). One way these effects can be measured is through indirect calorimetry using respiratory exchange ratio (RER). RER is higher after a larger dose of glucose, (2) demonstrating a higher overall CHO oxidation and lower full body fat oxidation.

Glycemic Index

The glycemic index, which is a number based on the raise in blood glucose after eating a particular food, of the CHO ingested plays an important role in the response of the body. Higher glycemic CHO have systemic blood glucose concentrations for a longer period of time or a higher area under the curve. Glucose R_a into the blood can be from a high or low GI food (42). For example: Glucose elicits a higher blood glucose and insulin response and a higher RER then fructose (25, 33). Blood glucose and plasma insulin respond differently to meals based on how high or low the GI and how much fat and protein accompanies the CHO (27). Higher GI meals elicits higher plasma glucose responses with a lower concentration of plasma FAAs at rest (45). High GI meals also elicit a lower glycerol response and a higher degree of the suppression of fat oxidation and plasma FFA concentration, (28, 45) 20 minutes into exercise if CHO taken prior to the start of exercise. Yet, these responses to the meal have no difference in driving down plasma glucose to equally low concentrations early in exercise (27).

High and low GI CHO can produce different postprandial insulin responses depending on how different the GI is. When the area under the curve (AUC) was evaluated for 24-hour insulin profiles, the high sucrose diet was found to produce an AUC for insulin similar to that produced by a high-starch diet (19). With the only major difference being sucrose had a higher insulin peak immediately after each meal. In the same study, it was shown that their high sucrose diet had a higher blood glucose concentration after each meal (except for breakfast) and continued to stay elevated above the blood glucose concentration of their high-starch diet until the next meal (19).

Wee et al. demonstrated that a higher GI meal prior to exercise increased plasma glucose and serum insulin response curves (51). They also showed that a higher GI meal increases muscle glycogen more than a low GI meal during a three-hour postprandial period without exercise. Yet, muscle glycogen utilization was higher once exercise commenced for those who ingested the high GI meal. Thus, the lower GI meal showed a sparing of muscle glycogen utilization during exercise, most likely because fat oxidation was higher (51). It is important to note the physiological changes to varying CHO meals based on its GI.

Response of Carbohydrates

Bratuschmarrain et al. (8) demonstrated seveal key aspects of different doses of CHO ingestion when looking for the best dose for an oral glucose tolerance test. They gave participants either 12.5, 25, 50, 75 or 100g of glucose. Illustrated previously, as the dose of ingested glucose went up, the amount of glucose R_a from the splachnic area and insulin response increased with it, with the highest increase of insulin concentration between 75 and 100g of ingested CHO. Yet glucose retention in the liver had a ceiling response of 50g of

glucose or higher demonstrating a similar percentage of ingested glucose that was retained in the liver. Glucagon was also suppressed throughout the observation period, with the lowest amounts being most marked in the trials with the highest CHO ingested (8).

Bratuschmarrain et al. also showed that splanchnic glucose output rate increases as the dose of CHO ingested increases. Yet, there was a plateau in relative splanchnic glucose retention (SGR) when glucose ingestion exceeded 50g. SGR never exceeded 80% of the amount of ingested glucose. Splanchnic tissue is the major site of glucose uptake for high glucose loads. Smaller amounts of glucose lead to larger amounts of glucose escaping the splanchnic circulation. When unraveling these results, it is key to understand that the amount of glucose released by the splanchnic bed incorporates the net result of the glucose load absorbed, as well as suppression of hepatic glucose production (8).

When a 100g dose was ingested, the liver retains most of it with peripheral tissues representing only a minor site of glucose utilization. It is apparent that the absolute amount of glucose taken up by the liver rises with the dose of glucose ingested and thereby with dosedependent stimulation of insulin production. Thus, it will seem that large glucose loads facilitate hepatic glucose uptake by eliciting both the release of pancreatic insulin secretion and by hyperglycemia, whereas smaller loads do not (8).

Sucrose

During digestion, sucrose is broken down in to its constituent parts. This disaccharide, through the enzyme sucrase, becomes the monosaccharaides glucose and fructose. The resulting glucose and fructose molecules are then absorbed (23). Glucose has a high GI while fructose has a low GI and independently, at the same dose, they have vastly different effects, glucose perturbing metabolism more (28). But sucrose affects metabolism very similarly to glucose (46).

In a study done by Horowitz et al. (27), the intake of sucrose, potato (starch) or syrup plus fat caused a higher resting blood glucose and insulin response than rice, rice plus fat or potato plus fat when measured 30 minutes after ingestion. Twenty minutes into exercise, all blood glucose concentrations from all trials were similarly below fasted basal level and all rose back to the fasted basal level within 60 minutes into exercise. The ingestion of potato and sucrose were the only trials to exhibit a significant increase in the rate of CHO oxidation above control while cycling at 60% VO₂ max. (27).

When about 84g of CHO were ingested with equal amount of protein and fat in each meal while the composition of the CHO changed, sucrose had no different response then fructose, potato and glucose (4). Mean plasma concentrations of glucose and mean serum concentrations of insulin were evaluated for AUC in healthy subjects to the same levels. Yet peak increments in plasma glucose were highest for sucrose and glucose (6). These same results have also been demonstrated with sucrose and glucose ingestion compared to starch. Where starch had a lower plasma glucose concentration, plasma insulin in AUC and peak levels of insulin concentration from sucrose and glucose were similar (46).

High Dose of Carbohydrates

There have been a number of studies that have looked at the affect of higher amounts of CHO load on the body during and before exercise (1, 4, 8, 10). Higher amount of CHO elicit higher levels of plasma insulin, but there seems to be a maximal dose response where even 75g and 200g of CHO elicit the same plasma insulin response (30). The effects that insulin has on blunting lipolysis can last far longer than the appearance of elevated plasma insulin. Consuming 2g CHO per kg body weight of CHO can blunt fat oxidation for 8 hours, even when plasma insulin returned to fasting level 4 hours after eating (38).

The dose response of glucose, lipolysis and FFA dynamics when ingesting 150g compared to 75g of CHO 90 minutes prior to exercise, blunts lipolysis to a greater extent. Both had similar drops in plasma glucose at the start of exercise as well as similar decrees in insulin and similar reduction in FFA response compared to the fasted state (44).

Ahlborg et al. demonstrated that 200g of CHO ingestion 50 minutes prior to exercise elicited a 2-3 fold higher leg glucose uptake which accompanied about a 20% increase in carbohydrate oxidation 20 minutes into exercise (2). Coyle et al. (15) demonstrated that 140g of CHO and 21g of protein 4 hours prior to exercise elicited a rise in both plasma insulin and blood glucose, but both fell back to fasted levels before exercise. In the first 20 minutes of exercise: plasma insulin was not different yet blood glucose was lower, FFA was lower, glycerol was lower and RER was higher compared to the fasting trials (15). This equated to a 50% increase in carbohydrate oxidation in the CHO fed group 12 minutes into exercise.

Low Dose of Carbohydrates

Historically studies on CHO ingestion prior to exercise have focused on 50g (200 calories) or more of CHO (2, 6, 38, 51). One study showed that 25g of CHO 45 minutes prior to exercise is enough to elicit a decrease in plasma glucose and an increase in plasma insulin (22). Yet, RER was the same for 25, 75, 200g doses of CHO since intensity was too high (72% Vo₂ peak), it dictated substrate use (30) over pre-exercise meal composition. Comparatively to other studies that observed a decrease of blood glucose concentration at the onset of exercise with a 2g/kg body weight of CHO four (15, 27) and or two hours (38) between eating and the start of exercise while Levine et al. did not show the same hypoglycemia with ingesting CHO, 75g, 45 min before exercise (33).

Bratuschmarrain et al. (8) demonstrated that at rest 12.5 and 25g of glucose resulted in a moderate increase in insulin and moderate decrease in glucagon. These doses were responsible for splanchnic glucose output approximately doubling above basal levels within 15 to 30 minutes compared to groups ingesting 75 or 100g of glucose having a 5-fold increase. He also showed that 12.5g of glucose ingestion has a markedly lower percent of its glucose retained by the hepatic region associated with a lower amount of insulin. These lower doses of CHO do have a metobolic affect on the body(8).

Integrative Outlook

Following ingestion of CHO, systematic blood glucose concentration increases with the rise in insulin closely behind (36). High insulin levels decrease glucagon in the blood and the liver decreases its contribution to blood glucose R_a and increases its uptake of glucose to restore its glycogen. The large R_a of glucose into the blood by the splanchnic region is due to the exogenous CHO intake of larger doses.

At the start of exercise, when blood glucose concentration and plasma insulin are still high above fasted basal levels, there is a large decrease in blood glucose concentration within the first 20 minutes (27). This is primarily due to the additive glucose R_d by the working muscles contracting (2) and high insulin in the blood (24). At the fall of plasma insulin concentration, the liver quickly switches from intake to output of glucose to help meet the demands of exercise (54). After 20 minutes, this exercise induced hypoglycemica starts to diminish. This change is two fold; as plasma insulin levels decline, blood glucose R_d declines and (21) hepatic glucose production increases (54). Thus, blood glucose levels rise back to levels closer to those found in the fasted state, in euglycemia.

Many studies have demonstrated the physiological responses to higher (50g or greater) amounts of CHO intake and Bratuschmarrian et al. (8) was able to demonstrate how lower levels of CHO ingestion have physiological affects at rest. Jentjens et al. (30) suggested that even a small increase of plasma insulin prior to exercise caused by a small dose (25 g) of CHO ingestion may be sufficient to suppress fat oxidation and cause a transient decrease in blood glucose concentration during exercise, but it is not yet completely understood how smaller amounts, or what is the smallest amount, of CHO that changes metabolism during moderate intensity exercise.

Proposal: Effects of Pre-Exercise Carbohydrate Consumption on Metabolism During Exercise

I propose that there will be a dose response with smaller amounts of ingested CHO on metabolism. CHO ingestion prior to exercise will result in a transient drop in blood glucose at the start of exercise, an increase in CHO oxidation and a blunting of fat oxidation. These results will be associated with higher blood glucose and insulin levels after feeding. The aim will be to demonstrate these relationships with a minimal amount of CHO prior to exercise.

Proposed Study Design

The purpose of this study will be to compare varying amounts (0, 12.5, 25 and 50 g) of preexercise CHO ingestion and the subsequent effects on metabolism including blood glucose concentration and fat oxidation during 30 minutes of moderate exercise. We will be administering the CHO in the form of sucrose (i.e.; table sugar) and adjusting the dose relative to body weight (i.e.; 0, 0.18, 0.36, 0.71 grams/kg body weight). This amounts to CHO doses of 0, 12.5, 25 and 50 grams respectively for a 70 kg person. We expect to find a step-wise reduction in fat oxidation and blood glucose concentration as pre-exercise CHO consumption increases and I aim to determine if even a small dose of CHO (i.e.; 12.5 g; 50 kcal) perturbs metabolism.

Experimental Approach

- 1. Overview of Initial Screening.
- 2. Informed consent will be obtained.
- Health Questionnaire and Physical Activity Questionnaire will be completed if individuals are eligible to participate.
- Familiarization period with equipment by performing an oxygen consumption (VO₂) submaximal and peak VO₂ test while cycling.
- 5. Four experimental trials with 0, 12.5, 25 or 50 g of CHO ingested (for a 70kg person) in a randomized order 45 minutes before exercise.
- Cycle for 30 minutes at 50% VO₂peak with the following measures at times 0, 5, 15 and 30 minutes: respiratory exchange ratio (RER), blood glucose concentration, Heart rate (HR) and rating of perceived exertion.

Proposed Protocol

- 1. Visit 1 will last approximately 90 minutes.
 - I. Informed consent will be obtained.
 - II. Health Questionnaire and Physical Activity Questionnaire will be completed if individuals are eligible to participate.
 - At this time inclusion/exclusion will be determined based off of the responses to the Health Questionnaire and Physical Activity Questionnaire.

- III. Body mass will be measured to the nearest 0.01 kg with a digital scale (LifeSource, UC-321, A&D Medical, San Jose, CA)
- IV. Familiarization period with equipment by performing a VO₂ submaximal and peak VO₂ test while cycling.
- 2. Visits 2 through 5 will last approximately 100 minutes.
 - Tweny-four hours prior to testing, participants must eat an identical diet, ingested no caffeine or alcohol, have not exercised and be at least 12 hours fasted.
 - II. Body mass will be measured to the nearest 0.01 kg with a digital scale (LifeSource, UC-321, A&D Medical, San Jose, CA)
 - III. Participants will ingest 0, 12.5, 25 or 50g of sucrose in a randomized fashion (for a 70kg person).
 - Ingestion will occur while seated and participants will remain seated for 45 minutes, until exercise starts.
 - IV. Each trial will consist of 15 minutes of resting gas exchange 25 minutes after ingestion and 30 minutes of cycling at 50% VO₂ peak, 45 minutes after ingestion.
 - RER will be recorded during the 15 minutes of rest and 30 minutes of cycling.
 - Blood glucose will be obtained through finger pricks during cycling at time 0, 5, 15 and 30 minutes of each bout of exercise.

- RPE will be asked of participants every 5 minutes of exercise by showing the scale and verbally asking.
- HR will be recorded immediately prior to exercise and every 5 minutes during exercise.
- 5. All trials will be performed at least 3 days apart.

Participants

a. Target Population:

Twelve moderately healthy men and women between the ages of 18 and 40 years old will be recruited for this study.

b. Conditions to end participation

Participants will end their involvement in this study if they become injured, cannot perform required exercise or protocol to expected levels, if they request to stop or if it becomes unsafe for them to continue.

c. Exclusions

We will exclude: trained athletes, diabetics, the injured, those who are taking cardiovascular-acting drugs or have present cardiovascular risk factors, women who are pregnant. d. Benefits:

Each subject completing the study will be provided with information about his or her VO_2 peak, which is useful to running and bicycling training and performance. This information will be given to them at no cost where it could cost \$100 at local health club facilities.

e. Risks:

The fatigue test to measure VO_2 peak will feel uncomfortable due to high heart rate, high respiration rate and the exertion of the working muscles. There is a very small risk the participant could experience a muscular injury, such as a muscle strain. There is the very remote possibility, as with any type of intense exercise in a person with undiagnosed heart disease, of a heart attack. During the tests, they may stop performing the task at any time for any reason if they feel they need to do so. However, the exercise intensities are individually controlled in accordance with their first visit. If they have a sugar allergy or sensitivity, ingesting sugar could cause fatigue, joint pain, stomach discomfort, allergy rash and cramps. However the average American diet has more sugar in it daily then they will be ingesting. At any point they may stop their participation in this study.

Risks associated with finger prick for blood glucose concentration are the discomfort associated with prick and, risk of infection (<1 in 1000). To minimize infection risk, only new and sterile lances will be used and the area will be wiped

with an alcohol swab both immediately before and after administering the finger prick.

Measurements

a. Body Mass Measurement

Subjects will have their body mass determined by standing on a digital scale (LifeSource, UC-321, A&D Medical, San Jose, CA) and body mass will be measured to the nearest 0.01kg. This information will be used to give the correct dose of sucrose for each participant based off body weight.

b. Rate of Perceived Exertion:

The Borg Scale will be used to ask the participant's RPE. It will be shown on a chart with the scale from 6-20 with descriptions to help the participants gage their difficulty.

c. Heart Rate:

Heart rate will be measured continuously from a strap worn around their chest (Suunto, Vantaa, Finland).

d. Blood Glucose Concentration:

Blood Glucose concentration will be measured by finger prick. The site will be cleaned (single use alcohol prep wipe), first drop of blood wiped away and second

analyzed (ONETOUCH Ultra 2 Glucose meter and ONETOUCH ultra Blue test strips, Lifescan Inc., Pilpitas, CA). Measurements will be made at 0, 5, 15 and 30 minutes of exercise.

e. Gas analysis (VO₂ and RER):

Using a facemask, gas exchange with oxygen and carbon dioxide analyzers will be measured (Applied Electrochemisty, Models S-3A/I and CD-3A, Respectively) while the participants breathe through a one-way valve (Hans Rudolph, Kansas City, MO). Ventilation will be measured via an inspiratory pneumotachometer (Hans Rudolph, Kansas City, MO). From this we will determine their oxygen consumption and identify their values (VO₂ and RER). Computer analysis will be done by MOXIS software.

f. Submaximal VO₂ and Peak Oxygen Consumption (VO₂ peak):

During this procedure, subjects will breathe into a facemask that will measure the O_2 and CO_2 concentration of expired air for calculation of their oxygen consumption (VO₂). The submaximal test will consist of 4 different stages, each being 5-minutes long to identify their VO₂ at the 50% level. During the test to determine VO₂peak, the intensity of exercise will be increased every 1-2 minutes until they are at their maximal effort level and become fatigued. This typically takes 6-10 minutes with the first 4 minutes are easy and the last 2 minutes are hard. Fatigue is associated with a difficulty or inability to maintain the exercise

speed (i.e.; reduced cadence when cycling). This duration and intensity of exercise is routinely experienced in cardiovascular training. These procedures are outlined in detail in publications cited (14, 16, 17, 47)

Discussion

The present study proposal was designed to speculate on the effects of lower amounts of carbohydrate consumption prior to exercise on metabolism and blood glucose dynamics during moderately intense exercise. I expect to find that that 12.5g of ingested CHO could be enough to decrease fat oxidation at rest and during exercise and that blood glucose concentration will decline during postprandial exercise when subjects consumed 12.5g or more of CHO. I expect to show blood glucose concentration declining during exercise and a step-wise reduction in fat oxidation and with even a small dose of pre-exercise CHO consumption demonstrating that it perturbs metabolism.

The drop in fat oxidation that I expect to show will most likely be due to a decrease in lipolysis from an increase in insulin (28, 39). One study showed that 12.5g, 25g and 50g of glucose produce an insulin level of (with baseline of 11 ± 2) 16 ± 2 , 32 ± 7 and $70 \pm 19 \mu$ U/mL at 45 minutes respectively (8) during an oral glucose tolerance test. Based off of the data from a study done by Meek et al., insulin levels of 11, 16, 32 and 70 μ U/mL will inversely correlate to a decrease in lipolysis including a decrease in arterial FFA concentration of 148 ± 19 , 44 ± 17 , 19 ± 4 and $9 \pm 1 \mu$ mol/L with a systemic flux of FFA of 115 ± 21 , 38 ± 12 , 21 ± 4 and $12 \pm 2 \mu$ mol/min respectively (35). Since, it is well documented that the reduction in mobilization of FFA from the adipose tissue limits fat oxidation (10, 28, 40), it can be deducted that 12.5g of CHO will cause a suppression of

fat oxidation through an increase in plasma insulin by the blunting of lipolysis. These findings will demonstrate the sensitivity of substrate metabolism to CHO ingestion.

I speculate that 12.5g of CHO could decrease fat oxidation by a higher percentage at rest then during exercise. This large difference in the percentage of fat oxidation decreasing between rest and exercise will be most likely due to the plasma FFA R_a and plasma FFA concentration differences. At rest, plasma FFA concentration is lower than during moderate exercise (4). The percent of FFA oxidation contributing to total energy expenditure at rest is higher than during exercise due to lower total caloric demands. During moderate exercise, total FFA R_a is higher than at rest (26) due to an increased demand in energy with an increase in net substrate by the triglyceride fatty acid cycle (52). Therefore, I deduct that the largest absolute rates of total fat oxidation will occur during exercise for this study. When participants were fasted while exercising at a moderate intensity and plasma insulin concentrations were at basal levels (<10 μ U/ml), lipolysis was shown to be above fat oxidation (28, 52) and when there was higher plasma FFA concentration, total fat oxidation was also increased (13). Therefore, when plasma FFA makes up a larger percentage of substrate oxidation at rest then during exercise, a reduction in plasma FFA will have a larger overall affect on total substrate oxidation.

When a small dose of CHO is ingested and insulin is secreted, there is a reduction in lipolysis to where it falls below the rate of fat oxidation (28). A reduction in fat oxidation by means of a reduction in lipolysis was demonstrated by Horowitz et al. by increased fat

oxidation by 30% through an increase in lipolysis via intralipid and heparin infusion after glucose ingestion (28). However, this rise in lipolysis did not reestablish fat oxidation back to a fasting level implying that CHO consumption effects fat oxidation in other ways. Therefore, we will not be able to say that the reduction in lipolysis is completely explained by the drop in fat oxidation with low doses of CHO ingestion.

Another part of this study will be to demonstrate a step-wise reduction in blood glucose concentration with lower doses of CHO. This study will confirm the same trends as other studies (30, 44). I suspect that all CHO trials at baseline will have a blood glucose concentration above fasted level, but will the 12.5g trials be enough CHO to induce enough insulin to create hypoglycemia? One reason for it not to be enough CHO will be similar to the explanation for the difference in a decreased percentage of plasma FFA oxidation between rest and exercise conditions. Blood glucose is oxidized at higher rates and glucose production is higher through gluconeogenesis and glycolysis in the liver during exercise (48, 49). Therefore the 12.5g of exogenous CHO contributing to glucose R_a then at rest. Then again, perhaps through oral glucose, our bodies are that sensitive to insulin and the rate of glucose coming out of the blood will be high enough.

The response of blood glucose concentration during exercise after CHO consumption will be due to several factors: the combination of insulin and muscle contraction on muscle glucose uptake and the level of plasma insulin, glucagon and catecholamine's effects on liver glucose output and splachnic glucose retention (32, 54). The existence of hypoglycemia shortly into exercise does not appear to be correlated to insulin sensitivity (29) or the intensity of exercise (1).

In summary, this report is to propose a study that could test whether 12.5g of CHO ingested 45 minutes before exercise could be enough to decrease fat metabolism but not enough to induce hypoglycemia. I speculate that 25g or more of CHO will elicit hypoglycemia shortly into exercise. These low doses will also show a step-wise increase in RER, reduction of fat oxidation and decline in blood glucose concentration that will be inversely dependent on the relative amount of CHO consumed prior to exercise. This dose response curve will display the sensitivity of metabolism to ingested CHO.

Bibliography

1. **Achten J, and Jeukendrup AE**. Effects of pre-exercise ingestion of carbohydrate on glycaemic and insulinaemic responses during subsequent exercise at differing intensities. *European journal of applied physiology* 88: 466-471, 2003.

2. **Ahlborg G, and Bjorkman O**. Carbohydrate utilization by exercising muscle following pre-exercise glucose ingestion. *Clinical physiology* 7: 181-195, 1986.

3. **Ahlborg G, and Felig P**. Substrate utilization during prolonged exercise preceded by ingestion of glucose. 1977, p. E188.

4. **Ahlborg G, Felig P, Hagenfeldt L, Hendler R, and Wahren J**. Substrate turnover during prolonged exercise in man. Splanchnic and leg metabolism of glucose, free fatty acids, and amino acids. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 53: 1080-1090, 1974.

5. **Allen DO, and Gardner EA**. Antilipolytic action of insulin in the perifused fat cell system. *Biochemical pharmacology* 29: 617-621, 1980.

6. **Bantle JP, Laine DC, Castle GW, Thomas JW, Hoogwerf BJ, and Goetz FC**. Postprandial Glucose And Insulin Responses To Meals Containing Different Carbohydrates In Normal And Diabetic Subjects. *New England Journal of Medicine* 309: 7-12, 1983.

7. **Bosch AN, Weltan SM, Dennis SC, and Noakes TD**. Fuel substrate kinetics of carbohydrate loading differs from that of carbohydrate ingestion during prolonged exercise. *Metabolism-Clinical and Experimental* 45: 415-423, 1996.

8. **Bratuschmarrain PR, Waldhausl WK, Gasic S, Korn A, and Nowotny P**. Oral Glucose-Tolerance Test - Effect Of Different Glucose Loads On Splanchnic Carbohydrate And Substrate Metabolism In Healthy Man

. Metabolism-Clinical and Experimental 29: 289-295, 1980.

9. **Cahill GF**. Fuel metabolism in starvation. In: *Annual Review of Nutrition*. Palo Alto: Annual Reviews, 2006, p. 1-22.

10. **Campbell PJ, Carlson MG, Hill JO, and Nurjhan N**. *Regulation of free fatty acid metabolism by insulin in humans: role of lipolysis and reesterification*. 1992, p. E1063-E1069.

11. **Chandramouli V, Ekberg K, Schumann WC, Kalhan SC, Wahren J, and Landau BR**. Quantifying gluconeogenesis during fasting. *Am J Physiol* 273: E1209-E1215, 1997.

12. **Chiasson JL, Liljenquist JE, Finger FE, and Lacy WW**. Differential Sensitivity Of Glycogenolysis And Gluconeogenesis To Insulin Infusions In Dogs . *Diabetes* 25: 283-291, 1976.

13. **Costill DL, Coyle E, Dalsky G, Evans W, Fink W, and Hoopes D**. Effects of elevated plasma FFA and insulin on muscle glycogen usage during exercise. *Journal*

of applied physiology: respiratory, environmental and exercise physiology 43: 695-699, 1977.

14. **Coyle E, Feltner ME, Kautz S, Hamilton M, Montain S, Baylor A, Abraham L, and Petrek G**. Physiological and biomechanical factors associated with elite endurance cycling performance. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 23: 93-107, 1991.

15. **Coyle EF, Coggan AR, Hemmert MK, Lowe RC, and Walters TJ**. *Substrate usage during prolonged exercise following a preexercise meal*. J. of Applied Phys.: 1985, p. 429-433.

16. **Coyle EF, Coggan AR, Hopper MK, and Walters TJ**. Determinants Of Endurance In Well-Trained Cyclists. *Journal of applied physiology* 64: 2622-2630, 1988.

17. **Coyle EF, Hopper MK, and Coggan AR**. Maximal Oxygen-Uptake Relative To Plasma-Volume Expansion. *International Journal of Sports Medicine* 11: 116-119, 1990.

18. **Cryer PE, and Gerich JE**. Glucose Counterregulation, Hypoglycemia, And Intensive Insulin Therapy In Diabetes-Mellitus

. New England Journal of Medicine 313: 232-241, 1985.

19. **Daly ME, Vale C, Walker M, Littlefield A, Alberti K, and Mathers JC**. Acute effects on insulin sensitivity and diurnal metabolic profiles of a high-sucrose compared with a high-starch diet. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 67: 1186-1196, 1998.

20. **Ekberg K, Landau BR, Wajngot A, Chandramouli V, Efendic S, Brunengraber H, and Wahren J**. Contributions by kidney and liver to glucose production in the postabsorptive state and after 60 h of fasting. *Diabetes* 48: 292-298, 1999.

21. **Febbraio MA, Chiu A, Angus DJ, Arkinstall MJ, and Hawley JA**. Effects of carbohydrate ingestion before and during exercise on glucose kinetics and performance. *Journal of applied physiology* 89: 2220-2226, 2000.

22. **Felig P**. Influence Of Endogenous Insulin Secretion On Splanchnic Glucose And Amino Acid Metabolism In Man

. Journal of Clinical Investigation 50: 1702-&, 1971.

23. **Gray GM**. Intestinal Digestion And Maldigestion Of Dietary Carbohydrates. *Annual Review of Medicine* 22: 391-&, 1971.

24. **Hargreaves M, Costill DL, Coggan A, Fink WJ, and Nishibata I**. Effect Of Carbohydrate Feedings On Muscle Glycogen Utilization And Exercise Performance. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 16: 219-222, 1984.

25. **Hargreaves M, Costill DL, Fink W, King D, and Fielding R**. Effect of preexercise carbohydrate feedings on endurance cycling performance. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 19: 33-36, 1987. 26. **Hodgetts V, Coppack SW, Frayn KN, and Hockaday T**. Factors controlling fat mobilization from human subcutaneous adipose tissue during exercise. *Journal of applied physiology* 71: 445-451, 1991.

27. **Horowitz JF, and Coyle EF**. Metabolic responses to preexercise meals containing various carbohydrates and fat. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 58: 235-241, 1993.

28. **Horowitz JF, Mora-Rodriguez R, Byerley LO, and Coyle EF**. *Lipolytic suppression following carbohydrate ingestion limits fat oxidation during exercise*. 1997, p. E768-E775.

29. **Jentjens R, and Jeukendrup AE**. Prevalence of hypoglycemia following preexercise carbohydrate ingestion is not accompanied by higher insulin sensitivity. *International journal of sport nutrition and exercise metabolism* 12: 398-413, 2002.

30. **Jentjens RL, Cale C, Gutch C, and Jeukendrup AE**. Effects of pre-exercise ingestion of differing amounts of carbohydrate on subsequent metabolism and cycling performance. *European journal of applied physiology* 88: 444-452, 2003.

31. **Khayat ZA, Patel N, and Klip A**. Exercise- and insulin-stimulated muscle glucose transport: Distinct mechanisms of regulation. *Canadian Journal of Applied Physiology-Revue Canadienne De Physiologie Appliquee* 27: 129-151, 2002.

32. **Kuipers H, Fransen E, and Keizer H**. Pre-exercise ingestion of carbohydrate and transient hypoglycemia during exercise. *International journal of sports medicine* 20: 227-231, 1999.

33. **Levine L, Evans WJ, Cadarette BS, Fisher EC, and Bullen BA**. Fructose And Glucose-Ingestion And Muscle Glycogen Use During Submaximal Exercise . *Journal of applied physiology* 55: 1767-1771, 1983.

34. **McConell G, Fabris S, Proietto J, and Hargreaves M**. Effect Of Carbohydrate Ingestion On Glucose Kinetics During Exercise

. Journal of applied physiology 77: 1537-1541, 1994.

35. **Meek SE, Nair KS, and Jensen MD**. Insulin regulation of regional free fatty acid metabolism. *Diabetes* 48: 10-14, 1999.

36. **Meyer C, Dostou JM, Welle SL, and Gerich JE**. Role of human liver, kidney, and skeletal muscle in postprandial glucose homeostasis. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism* 282: E419-E427, 2002.

37. **Mitrakou A, Ryan C, Veneman T, Mokan M, Jenssen T, Kiss I, Durrant J, Cryer P, and Gerich J**. Hierarchy Of Glycemic Thresholds For Counterregulatory Hormone-Secretion, Symptoms, And Cerebral-Dysfunction. *Am J Physiol* 260: E67-E74, 1991.

38. **Montain SJ, Hopper MK, Coggan AR, and Coyle EF**. *Exercise metabolism at different time intervals after a meal*. Journal of Applied Physiology: 1991, p. 882-888.

39. Nurjhan N, Campbell P, Kennedy F, Miles JM, and Gerich J. Insulin doseresponse characteristics for suppression of glycerol release and conversion to glucose in humans. *Diabetes* 35: 1326-1331, 1986. 40. **Romijn J, Coyle E, Sidossis L, Zhang X, and Wolfe R**. Relationship between fatty acid delivery and fatty acid oxidation during strenuous exercise. *Journal of applied physiology* 79: 1939-1945, 1995.

41. **Rothman DL, Magnusson I, Katz LD, Shulman RG, and Shulman GI**. Quantitation Of Hepatic Glycogenolysis And Gluconeogenesis In Fasting Humans With C-13 Nmr. *Science* 254: 573-576, 1991.

42. Schenk S, Davidson CJ, Zderic TW, Byerley LO, and Coyle EF. Different glycemic indexes of breakfast cereals are not due to glucose entry into blood but to glucose removal by tissue. *The American journal of clinical nutrition* 78: 742-748, 2003.

43. **Schwartz NS, Clutter WE, Shah SD, and Cryer PE**. Glycemic Thresholds For Activation Of Glucose Counterregulatory Systems Are Higher Than The Threshold For Symptoms. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 79: 777-781, 1987.

44. **Sherman WM, Peden MC, and Wright DA**. Carbohydrate Feedings 1-H Before Exercise Improves Cycling Performance

. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 54: 866-870, 1991.

45. **Sparks MJ, Selig SS, and Febbraio MA**. Pre-exercise carbohydrate ingestion: effect of the glycemic index on endurance exercise performance. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise* 30: 844-849, 1998.

46. **Swan DC, Davidson P, and Albrink MJ**. Effect Of Simple And Complex Carbohydrates On Plasma Non-Esterified Fatty Acids Plasma-Sugar And Plasma-Insulin During Oral Carbohydrate Tolerance Tests. *Lancet* 1: 60-&, 1966.

47. **Trinity JD, Lee JF, Pahnke MD, Beck KC, and Coyle EF**. Attenuated relationship between cardiac output and oxygen uptake during high-intensity exercise. *Acta Physiologica* 204: 362-370, 2012.

48. **Wahren J, and Ekberg K**. Splanchnic regulation of glucose production. In: *Annual Review of Nutrition*. Palo Alto: Annual Reviews, 2007, p. 329-345.

49. **Wahren J, Felig P, Ahlborg G, and Jorfeldt L**. Glucose metabolism during leg exercise in man. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 50: 2715-2725, 1971.

50. Wasserman DH, Spalding JA, Lacy DB, Colburn CA, Goldstein RE, and Cherrington AD. Glucagon Is A Primary Controller Of Hepatic Glycogenolysis And Gluconeogenesis During Muscular Work. *Am J Physiol* 257: E108-E117, 1989.

51. **Wee SL, Williams C, Tsintzas K, and Boobis L**. Ingestion of a high-glycemic index meal increases muscle glycogen storage at rest but augments its utilization during subsequent exercise. *Journal of applied physiology* 99: 707-714, 2005.

52. **Wolfe RR, Klein S, Carraro F, and Weber JM**. *Role of triglyceride-fatty acid cycle in controlling fat metabolism in humans during and after exercise*. 1990, p. E382-E389.

53. **Wright D, Sherman W, and Dernbach A**. Carbohydrate feedings before, during, or in combination improve cycling endurance performance. *Journal of applied physiology (Bethesda, Md: 1985)* 71: 1082-1088, 1991.

54. **Zinker BA, Mohr T, Kelly P, Namdaran K, Bracy DP, and Wasserman DH**. Exercise-Induced Fall In Insulin - Mechanism Of Action At The Liver And Effects On Muscle Glucose-Metabolism. *Am J Physiol* 266: E683-E689, 1994.